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B. On May 31, 2005, the Board received a written hearing request from Mr. Rickey.  
(State’s Exhibit 1B) 

 
II. Appearances 
 

A. On behalf of the State of Ohio:  Jim Petro, Attorney General, by Jonathan R. 
Fulkerson, Assistant Attorney General.   

 
B. On behalf of the Respondent:  Charles Christian Rickey, P.A., pro se. 

 
 

EVIDENCE EXAMINED 
 
I. Testimony Heard 
 

Charles Christian Rickey, P.A.  
 
II. Exhibits Examined 
 

A. Presented by the State 
 

1. State’s Exhibits 1A through 1C and 10:  Procedural exhibits.   
 
2. State’s Exhibit 2:  Copy of an information filed on June 27, 1996, in the United 

States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia in United States v. 
Charles C. Rickey, Criminal [Case] No. 3:96-079 [U.S. v. Rickey].  

 
3. State’s Exhibit 3:  Copy of the plea agreement signed by Mr. Rickey on 

December 13, 1995.  
 
4. State’s Exhibit 4:  Copy of the Letter of Agreement between Mr. Rickey and the 

Kentucky Board of Medical Licensure [Kentucky Board], signed by Mr. Rickey 
on July 12, 2004.  

 
5. State’s Exhibit 5:  Copy of documents maintained by the Kentucky Board 

regarding Mr. Rickey. 
 
6. State’s Exhibit 6:  Additional materials maintained by the Kentucky Board, 

including a copy of the Judgment in U.S. v. Rickey, supra, entered November 20, 
1996 (regarding the sentence imposed November 18, 1996); and an Order entered 
December 2, 1996, amending the Judgment to the extent of including a list of the 
conspiracy’s victims and the amount payable to each of them from Mr. Rickey’s 
monthly restitution payments.  [Note:  Social Security numbers and financial 
account number were redacted by the Hearing Examiner post hearing.] [Further 
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note:  The pages of this document were numbered by the Hearing Examiner post 
hearing.] 

 
7. State’s Exhibit 7:  Withdrawn. 
  
8. State’s Exhibit 8:  Copy of Answers to the Board’s First Set of Interrogatories, 

signed by Mr. Rickey on February 15, 2005. 
 
9. State’s Exhibit 9:  Copies of Mr. Rickey’s application to the Board for registration 

as a physician assistant.  [Note:  Social Security numbers were redacted by the 
Hearing Examiner post hearing.] 

 
B. Presented by the Respondent 
 
 Respondent’s Exhibit A:  Copy of a Letter of Commendation regarding Mr. Rickey 

from the Ohio House of Representatives with attached copy of an October 13, 1987, 
cover letter to Mr. Rickey from Vern Riffe, Speaker, Ohio House of Representatives.   

 
 

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE 
 
All exhibits and transcripts of testimony, even if not specifically mentioned, were thoroughly 
reviewed and considered by the Hearing Examiner prior to preparing this Report and 
Recommendation. 
 
Background 
 
1. Charles Christian Rickey, P.A., was born in Portsmouth, Ohio, in 1967.  He testified that 

his parents work for the United States Department of Defense, and that he grew up in the 
Philippines, Turkey, and Japan.  He stated that, in 1990, he had obtained a Bachelor’s 
Degree in communications from the University of Rio Grande in Rio Grande, Ohio, and 
that he had also taken some business courses through Shawnee State University in 
Portsmouth, Ohio.  (Hearing Transcript [Tr.] at 7-8; State’s Exhibit [St. Ex.] 9) 

 
 After his criminal conviction, which is described in detail below, Mr. Rickey worked 

primarily in the food service industry.  Mr. Rickey testified that he also “decided that [his] 
life had to take a turn either for the better or for the worse,” and applied for and was 
accepted to the physician assistant program at the University of Kentucky.  He further testified 
that, in 2003, he had received his Master’s Degree in Physician Assistant Studies from the 
University of Kentucky.  (Tr. at 9) 

 
The Criminal Conviction for Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud 
 
2. Beginning in about January 1995 and continuing until April 23, 1995, Mr. Rickey engaged 

in a conspiracy to commit bank fraud.  Working with at least one other person, Mr. Rickey 



Report and Recommendation 
In the Matter of Charles Christian Rickey, P.A. 
Page 4 

fraudulently opened a checking account at a bank in West Virginia, using identification 
documents belonging to another individual, without that individual’s consent.  Mr. Rickey 
then deposited items into the account that he knew were fraudulent deposits and would not 
be honored.  He wrote checks on the account to obtain monies and goods, knowing that the 
checks were fraudulent.  Mr. Rickey also rented a post office box, using a name not his 
own, to advance the conspiracy to commit fraud.  (St. Exs. 2, 3; St. Ex. 6 at 32-46) 

 
3. On December 13, 1995, Mr. Rickey entered into a plea agreement with the United States 

Attorney for the Southern District of West Virginia [U.S. Attorney].  In that plea 
agreement, Mr. Rickey agreed to plead guilty to an Information to be filed in federal 
district court charging him with one count of conspiracy to commit bank fraud.  (St. Ex. 3) 

 
 The plea agreement included a recitation of the maximum penalty to which Mr. Rickey 

would be exposed by pleading guilty.  The maximum penalty noted therein would include 
imprisonment for a period of five years and a fine of $250,000.  (St. Ex. 3 at 2) 

 
4.  On June 27, 1996, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West 

Virginia, the U.S. Attorney filed an Information in United States v. Charles C. Rickey, 
Crim. Case No. 3:96-079, alleging specific acts by Mr. Rickey and charging him with one 
count of conspiracy to knowingly execute and attempt to execute a scheme to defraud a 
financial institution, a felony in violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 371.  (St. Ex. 2)  The 
Information describes Mr. Rickey’s conduct as follows: 

 
1. * * * CHARLES C. RICKEY did conspire with at least one other person 

to commit an offense against the United States, that is, to knowingly 
execute and attempt to execute a scheme and artifice to defraud The 
Twentieth Street Bank of Huntington * * *. 

 
2. In furtherance of the conspiracy, defendant CHARLES C. RICKEY 

fraudulently opened a checking account at The Twentieth Street Bank in 
the name of another person, using identification documents which had 
been appropriated from the other person without consent. 

 
3. In furtherance of the conspiracy defendant CHARLES C. RICKEY 

fraudulently rented a mailbox from the United States Postal Service in a 
name not his own. 

 
4. In furtherance of the conspiracy defendant CHARLES C. RICKEY 

deposited items into the aforementioned checking account at the 
Twentieth Street Bank which, as defendant well knew, were fraudulent 
deposits and would not be honored by the Twentieth Street Bank. 

 
5. In furtherance of the conspiracy defendant CHARLES C. RICKEY issued 
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checks drawn on the fraudulent bank account for the purpose of obtaining 
monies and goods, knowing that such checks were fraudulent * * *. 

 
 (St. Ex. 2) 
 
5. On November 18, 1996, Mr. Rickey appeared before the court and pled guilty to 

conspiracy to commit bank fraud as charged in the Information.  The court sentenced him 
to four months at the Transitions Community Corrections Center in Ashland, Kentucky, 
five years of probation (to include the time served at the corrections center), and restitution 
totaling $36,141.91 to be paid in monthly installments of $200.00.  The court waived fining 
Mr. Rickey due to his inability to pay.  (St. Ex. 6) 

 
6. On December 2, 1996, the court issued an Order amending its judgment to specify the 

location of payment to be the Clerk of Court in Huntington, West Virginia, and to provide 
to the clerk a list of the conspiracy’s victims to aid in distributing the restitution payments 
from Mr. Rickey, as follows: 

 
   Victim     $ Amount  (rounded to nearest dollar) 

  
 [Victims on the “A. Lutz” accounts:] 
 

  Bank One, West Virginia    $ 9,403.00 
  Wireless One       212.00 
  American Eagle Outfitter  1,032.00 
  Elder-Beerman       971.00 
  Stone and Thomas   1,506.00 
  Go Mart        105.00 
  Lazarus        381.00 
  Discover Card    1,035.00 
  Pied Piper        816.00 
  Allstate Insurance         10.00 
  Structure        244.00 
  Super America       328.00 
  Berwick Enterprises        85.00 
  BP Oil        268.00 
  Rich Toyota       511.00 
          $   16,907.00 
 
 [Victims on the “R. L. Matthews” accounts:] 
 
  Twentieth Street Bank     $    3,925.00 
  Cellular One      180.00 
  Stone & Thomas      277.00 
  Lazarus       381.00 
  Citibank Visa      925.00 
  Lowes       373.00 (account also in the name of K. Tradowsky) 
  J.C. Penney       237.00 
          $    6,298.00 
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 [Victims on the “K. Minardi/Tradowsky” accounts:] 
 

  Key Bank (Visa)      $ 1,171.00 
  First USA Bank (Visa)   6,703.00 
  Lowes     _______     (listed above under Matthews accounts) 
          $ 7,874.00 
 
 [Checks written on the “Matthews” account returned for Insufficient Funds:] 
 

   111  NRM Music  191.00  
   112  Petland   105.00  
   113  Koenig   286.00  
   114  Automotive Details   10.00  
   115  Musicland   144.00  
   116  U-Haul     80.00  
   117  Jacobson’s   185.00  
   118  Marshall Fields    99.00  
   210  Kohls      72.00  
    213  Disc Jockey   155.00  
    214  Kmart   244.00  
    216  Sears    856.00  
    217  Footlocker   132.00  
    218  Marshall Fields  234.00  
    219  Marshall Fields  656.00  
    222  Sharper Image  174.00  
    223    Target   145.00  
    224     Cub Foods   154.00  
   110  Aaron Lutz        1,900.00 (Fraudulent deposit to Lutz bank account) 
   260  Citibank Visa  800.00 (Card fraudulently obtained in Matthews  name) 
   261  First USA Bank        5,000.00 (Card fraudulently obtained in Minardi name) 
         $  7,700.00  
 
 [Checks written on the “Lutz” account returned for Insufficient Funds:] 
 
   103  Score      90.00  
   104  Score      43.00  
   108  LeRoys Jewelers  953.00  
   109  Candy HQtrs  125.00  
   110  Candy HQtrs    21.00  
           $ 1,233.00  
 
(St. Ex. 6 at 37-46) 
 

7. According to Mr. Rickey, the corrections center at which he served four months was a 
“federal halfway house.”  Mr. Rickey described it as “an incarceration facility where you’re 
allowed to go outside of the facility for employment, but you’re subject to return after your 
working shift, and you pay for your incarceration there, as far as room and board fees.”  
(Tr. at 13)  He testified that he had begun his incarceration on November 17, 1996, and that 
his probation had ended in November 2001.  (Tr. at 22) 
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 With regard to his restitution requirement, Mr. Rickey stated that he is making monthly 

payments and that the total owed was down to about $31,000.  He further stated that he is 
not paying interest on the amounts owed to the victims in restitution.  (Tr. at 22-24) 

 
Kentucky Certificate with Restrictions Granted by the Kentucky Board 
 
8. After he obtained his Master’s Degree in Physician Assistant Studies in 2003, Mr. Rickey 

applied to the Kentucky Board for a physician assistant certificate.  On July 12, 2004, 
Mr. Rickey entered into a Letter of Agreement with the Kentucky Board of Medical 
Licensure [Kentucky Board], setting forth restrictions and conditions pursuant to which he 
received a Kentucky physician assistant certificate.  Further, the Letter of Agreement 
contains no admissions, findings of fact, or conclusions of law.  Finally, the Letter of 
Agreement was filed with the Kentucky Board on July 13, 2004.  (St. Ex. 4; Tr. at 15) 

 
 In the Letter of Agreement, Mr. Rickey agreed to restrictions and conditions for a period of 

three years, including the following: to arrange for a supervising physician to provide 
written reports to the Kentucky Board every six months regarding his performance and 
behavior in several areas; to obtain approval from the Kentucky Board for his practice 
location before commencing work; to obtain approval for any change in practice location; 
to obey Kentucky Revised Statutes 311.850 and all other state and federal laws; and to 
notify the Kentucky Board of any violations of state or federal law that result in an 
investigation, charges, or conviction.  (St. Ex. 4) 

 
9. With regard to his work history, Mr. Rickey testified that he had begun practice in 

July 2004 as a physician assistant to Melecio G. Abordo, Jr., M.D., in Jackson, Kentucky.  
Mr. Rickey further testified that, in January 2005, he took “a sabbatical” from his position 
with Dr. Abordo to work at the Fort Knox military base.  He stated that he had notified the 
Kentucky Board when he made these changes in employment.  (Tr. at 19-20, 34) 

 
Additional Information 
 
10. On or about February 10, 2004, Mr. Rickey filed with the Board an Application for 

Physician Assistant Registration Number.  That application remains pending.  (St. Ex. 9) 
 
11. On February 15, 2005, Mr. Rickey submitted sworn responses to interrogatories posed by 

the Ohio Board.  Among his responses, Mr. Rickey acknowledged that he was required to 
comply with the terms and restrictions contained in the Letter of Agreement with the 
Kentucky Board.  (St. Ex. 8)   

 
 In a May 2005 letter to the Board, Mr. Rickey said that he had voluntarily entered the 

agreement with the Kentucky Board due to that Board’s concerns over the federal charge.  
(St. Ex. 1B)   
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12. Mr. Rickey testified that, after his criminal conviction, he had changed his life, returning to 
undergraduate school for further studies and then obtaining a Master’s Degree in physician 
assistant studies.  Mr. Rickey emphasized that the federal government had evaluated him 
and hired him despite his criminal history.  He testified that, when he was hired to work 
at the Ft. Knox location, the government “did a thorough evaluation of [his] background 
and security clearances through federal agencies to determine whether or not [I] was 
suitable to be employed as a Physician Assistant with the United States Government.”  He 
explained that he was hired and can now work as a physician assistant “in other states on 
federal facilities.”  Mr. Rickey expressed the hope that this fact would help the Board look 
favorably on his application.  (Tr. at 9, 35-36, 41)   Mr. Rickey further provided 
handwritten letters from two persons regarding his dedication in providing medical 
services.  (St. Ex. 9) 

 
 Mr. Rickey testified that his work with Dr. Abordo had been performed in an underserved 

area of Kentucky, and states that, if the Board will grant him registration, he will provide 
“care to the indigent and underserved” in Ohio.  He further stated that he intends to 
“provide voluntary services here with some of the free clinics established around southern 
Ohio.”  Moreover, he stated that his parents are from Scioto County and currently reside 
there, so he would like the “opportunity to come back and provide community service to 
[his] hometown area.”  (St. Ex. 1B; Tr. 19, 34)  

 
 Mr. Rickey urged the Board to consider that he has no criminal record other than the 

federal conviction.  He asserts that he changed his life after being convicted and that it took 
“dedication, loyalty, and above all trust of your peers and patients” to become a physician 
assistant.  (St. Ex. 1B)  He further explained why the Board should grant his application: 

 
 For the five years of pre-requisites and PA school I performed in an ethical 

and professional [manner].  I am respected by my peers and patients alike.  
Simply put, I am a credit to my profession and deserve to be given the chance 
to make a contribution in my home state by providing care to the indigent and 
underserved. 

 
 (St. Ex. 1B) 
 
13. At hearing, Mr. Rickey made reference to a letter of commendation that he had received in 

1987 from the Ohio House of Representatives, sponsored by Speaker Vern Riffe.  The 
Letter of Commendation recognized Mr. Rickey for heroic actions displayed in helping to 
save the life of a fellow student at Rio Grande College.  It states that Mr. Rickey had 
administered cardiopulmonary resuscitation to a fellow student who had been struck by 
lightning.  (Respondent’s Exhibit A) 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

1. On or about February 10, 2004, Charles Christian Rickey, P.A., filed an Application for 
Physician Assistant Registration Number in the State of Ohio.  That application remains 
pending. 

 
2. On November 18, 1996, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of 

West Virginia, Mr. Rickey entered a plea of guilty to and was convicted of a felony, to wit: 
Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 371.  As a result of 
said conviction, he was sentenced to five years of probation, with four months to be served 
in the Transitions Community Corrections Center in Ashland, Kentucky.  Further, he was 
ordered to make monthly payments of $200.00 toward the court-ordered restitution amount 
of $36,141.91, of which he report having paid $4,000.00.   

 
 The conduct underlying the above plea of guilty and judicial finding of guilt, as set forth in 

the Information, states, in part, as follows: 
 

1. * * * CHARLES C. RICKEY did conspire with at least one other person 
to commit an offense against the United States, that is, to knowingly 
execute and attempt to execute a scheme and artifice to defraud The 
Twentieth Street Bank of Huntington * * *. 

 
2. In furtherance of the conspiracy, defendant CHARLES C. RICKEY 

fraudulently opened a checking account at The Twentieth Street Bank in 
the name of another person, using identification documents which had 
been appropriated from the other person without consent. 

 
3. In furtherance of the conspiracy defendant CHARLES C. RICKEY 

fraudulently rented a mailbox from the United States Postal Service in a 
name not his own. 

 
4. In furtherance of the conspiracy defendant CHARLES C. RICKEY 

deposited items into the aforementioned checking account at the 
Twentieth Street Bank which, as defendant well knew, were fraudulent 
deposits and would not be honored by the Twentieth Street Bank. 

 
5. In furtherance of the conspiracy defendant CHARLES C. RICKEY issued 

checks drawn on the fraudulent bank account for the purpose of obtaining 
monies and goods, knowing that such checks were fraudulent * * *. 

 
3. On July 12, 2004, Mr. Rickey entered into a Letter of Agreement with the Kentucky Board 

of Medical Licensure [Kentucky Board], whereby he received a Kentucky Physician 
Assistant Certificate and agreed that said certificate would be subject to certain terms and 
conditions, including monitoring his practice as a physician assistant, for a period of three 
years.  On February 15, 2005, Mr. Rickey submitted sworn responses to interrogatories, in 
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which he indicated that the Kentucky Board of Medical Licensure required him to enter 
into said Letter of Agreement in light of his prior felony conviction.   

 
 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 
1. The plea of guilty entered by Charles Christian Rickey, P.A., and/or the judicial finding of 

guilt, as set forth in Findings of Fact 1 and 2, constitute a “plea of guilty to, a judicial 
finding of guilt of, or a judicial finding of eligibility for intervention in lieu of conviction 
for, a felony,” as that clause is used in Section 4730.25(B)(11), Ohio Revised Code. 

 
2. The Letter of Agreement with the Kentucky Board of Medical Licensure, as set forth above in 

Finding of Fact 3, constitutes one of  “the following actions taken by the agency responsible 
for regulating the practice of physician assistants in another state, for any reason other than 
the nonpayment of fees:  the limitation, revocation, or suspension of an individual’s license to 
practice; acceptance of an individual’s license surrender; denial of a license; refusal to renew 
or reinstate a license; imposition of probation; or issuance of an order of censure or other 
reprimand,” as that clause is used in Section 4730.25(B)(18), Ohio Revised Code. 

 
* * * * * 

 
Mr. Rickey committed a felony offense, engaging in a conspiracy to commit bank fraud.  His 
conduct involved clear criminal intent and substantial economic harm to others.  Further, the 
offense affected a large number of victims.  Such an offense would merit the severest discipline 
available to the Board, and the Board would be fully justified in permanently denying 
Mr. Rickey’s application. 
 
Despite the foregoing, a number of mitigating factors are present in this case.  The underlying 
conduct occurred approximately ten years ago.  Further, there is no evidence of any prior criminal 
conduct, or of any criminal conduct after the conviction.  In addition, given the maximum 
sentence that could have been imposed, the court’s sentence appears to have been quite lenient.  
Moreover, Mr. Rickey appears to be remorseful for his offense, and also appears to have made a 
substantial effort to reform.  Furthermore, it is noteworthy that, although Mr. Rickey was 
convicted in federal court, the federal government has since seen fit to hire him.  Given these 
mitigating factors, the Board may deem it appropriate to grant Mr. Rickey’s application subject to 
probationary monitoring to ensure that Mr. Rickey continues to comply with his agreement with 
the Kentucky Board, and to give the Board an opportunity to monitor his progress. 
 

 
PROPOSED ORDER 

 
It is hereby ORDERED that: 
 
A. The application of Charles Christian Rickey, P.A., for a certificate to practice as a 

Physician Assistant in the State of Ohio is GRANTED, provided that he otherwise meets 
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all statutory and regulatory requirements, and subject to the following PROBATIONARY 
terms, conditions, and limitations for a period of at least three years: 

 
1. Obey the Law: Mr. Rickey shall obey all federal, state, and local laws, and all rules 

governing the practice of Physician Assistants in the state in which he is practicing.  
 
2. Quarterly Declarations: Mr. Rickey shall submit quarterly declarations under 

penalty of Board disciplinary action or criminal prosecution, stating whether there has 
been compliance with all the conditions of this Order.  The first quarterly declaration 
must be received in the Board’s offices on or before the first day of the third month 
following the month in which this Order becomes effective.  Subsequent quarterly 
declarations must be received in the Board’s offices on or before the first day of every 
third month. 

 
3. Declarations of Compliance with Probation of the Kentucky Board of Medical 

Licensure: Mr. Rickey shall submit to the Ohio Board declarations under penalty of 
Board disciplinary action or criminal prosecution stating whether he has complied 
with all the terms, conditions, and limitations imposed by the Letter of Agreement 
with the Kentucky Board of Medical Licensure [Kentucky Board].  Moreover, 
Mr. Rickey shall cause to be submitted to the Board copies of any reports that he 
submits to the Kentucky Board or its agent whenever the Kentucky Board requires 
such submission.  In addition, Mr. Rickey shall ensure that the declarations of 
compliance with his Letter of Agreement with the Kentucky Board are forwarded to 
the Ohio Board on a quarterly basis and are received in the Ohio Board’s offices no 
later than the due date for Mr. Rickey’s quarterly declaration.   

 
4. Personal Appearances: Mr. Rickey shall appear in person for an interview before 

the full Board or its designated representative during the third month following the 
month in which this order becomes defective, or as otherwise directed by the Board.  
Subsequent personal appearances must occur every three months thereafter, and/or as 
otherwise requested by the Board.  If an appearance is missed or is rescheduled for 
any reason, ensuing appearances shall be scheduled based on the appearance date as 
originally scheduled.   

 
B. TERMINATION OF PROBATION: Upon successful completion of probation, as 

evidenced by a written release from the Board, Mr. Rickey’s certificate will be fully 
restored.  

 
C. REQUIRED REPORTING TO EMPLOYERS AND HOSPITALS: Within thirty days 

of the effective date of this Order, or as otherwise determined by the Board, Mr. Rickey 
shall provide a copy of this Order to all employers or entities with which he is under 
contract to provide health care services or is receiving training; and the Chief of Staff 
at each hospital where he has privileges or appointments.  Further, Mr. Rickey shall 
provide a copy of this Order to all employers or entities with which he contracts to provide 
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